RECEIVED

JUL 31 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
BENJAMIN H. CULBERTSON, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

Case No. 2015-CP-10-3220
Appellate Case No. 2016-002469

Shane Gould,.....Respondent,

v.

Worldwide Apparel LLC, f/k/a
MusclePharm Sportswear LLC, and
Drew Ciccarelli, Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Desa Ballard
Harvey M. Watson III
BALLARD & WATSON
P.O. Box 6338
West Columbia, South Carolina 29171
Telephone 803.796.9299
Facsimile 803.796.1066
desab@desaballard.com
harvey@desaballard.com

W. Stephen Harris
Theodore Huge
HARRIS & HUGE, LLC
180 Spring Street
Charleston, South Carolina 29403
Telephone 843.805.8031

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Because of the evidence regarding oral discussions and text messages exchanged regarding the issue, did the trial court erri in failing to recognize a genuine issue of material fact existed as to the operative terms of employment between the parties for the entire period of employment, which should have precluded the grant of summary judgment?
- II. Does the payment of wages act, as a matter of law, render null any change in the terms of employment that are agreed upon between the employee and employer merely because the terms were not confirmed in writing?
- III. Because of the evidence presented regarding disloyalty by the plaintiff during the period of employment, did the defendants present sufficient evidence of the existence of equitable defenses that precluded summary judgment for plaintiff?
- IV. Was the Trial Court's award of treble damages and attorney fees improper given the bona fide dispute between the parties as to at least a portion of the amount of wages found due and unpaid?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter was initiated by Respondent Shane Gould's filing of a Summons and Complaint against Appellants on June 5, 2015. The complaint included causes of action for breach of contract and a claim pursuant to the South Carolina Wage Payment Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-10 et seq. (R. pp. 17-24). Defendants filed an Answer on July 6, 2015. (R. pp. 25-30). Respondent filed a Motion for Summary Judgment and for Discovery Sanctions on May 26, 2016. (R. pp. 31-33). That motion was later amended on June 10, 2016. (R. pp. 34-38). Appellants submitted a memorandum in opposition to the amended motion on July 7, 2016. (R. pp. 39-43). Respondent filed a memo in support of its motion on July 12, 2016. A hearing on the motion was held that same date before the Honorable Benjamin H. Culbertson. Judge Culbertson later signed a Form 4 Order on July 15, 2016, indicating a formal order would follow. (R. pp. 1-2). He then sent a letter dated July 18, 2016 to the parties, instructing Respondent to prepare an order granting the motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 218).

Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration pursuant to Rule 59(e) on July 25, 2016, which included a memorandum in support of its motion. (R. pp. 44-56). Respondents filed a memorandum in opposition to that Rule 59(e) motion on August 15, 2016.

On November 3, 2016, Judge Culbertson signed a formal order granting summary judgment on behalf of Respondents, and subsequently filed an order denying reconsideration thereof on November 8, 2016. (R. pp. 3-4). Appellants timely appealed both orders by filing a Notice of Appeal on December 8, 2016. (R. pp. 57-72).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

MusclePharm Corporation (hereafter "MusclePharm Supplements") is a publicly traded nutritional and sports supplement product manufacturer marketed towards athletes and bodybuilders. MusclePharm Supplements is not, nor has it ever been, a party to this action.

MusclePharm Supplements licensed the right to sell apparel bearing its name and trademarked logos to a business operated under the name MusclePharm Sportswear, LLC. (hereafter "MusclePharm"), even after it changed its legal name to Worldwide Apparel, LLC. (R. p. 133). Worldwide Apparel was partially owned by Appellant Ciccarelli.

Respondent Shane Gould owns his own company named Fuel Clothing Company, known simply as "Fuel," which he founded in 1992. Fuel produces apparel for "action sports" such as skateboard, snowboard, surf, motocross, and racing. (R. p. 187, line 17 – p. 188, line 12). Gould was himself a former professional snowboarder and had participated in all of those listed action sports. (Id. at R. p. 185, line 12; p. 188, lines 13-15).

Gould was hired by MusclePharm in May, 2013 by a verbal agreement to be in charge of manufacturing, to assist with developing the product line, sourcing materials, marketing, and helping sales staff. (R. p. 121, line 21 – p. 122, line 3; R. p. 192, line 22 – p. 193, line 2). Gould did not have regular hours, but was supposed to attend staff meetings on a weekly basis. He agreed to work for MusclePharm at a salary of \$10,000 per month. There was no agreed upon expiration date to the term to the employment nor was any provision of the agreement reduced to writing.

During his employment, Gould attended trade shows, paid for by MusclePharm. While attending on MusclePharm's dime, Gould nevertheless marketed his own company, Fuel, during those trips by, in part, handing out Fuel-branded apparel. This was despite representations made by Gould that Fuel "ran itself pretty much." Gould did not advise MusclePharm he would market

Fuel products while attending and supposedly promoting MusclePharm at the trade shows. (R. p. 122, lines 19-23). Certain decisions made by Gould, such as questionably large orders from particular suppliers/vendors ostensibly for MusclePharm, gave Ciccarelli and other employees of MusclePharm reason to suspect self-interested dealing by Gould for the benefit of Fuel. (R. pp. 153-155). Gould admitted that he had preexisting personal relationships, was "good friends with, the vendors from which he was dealing on behalf of MusclePharm. (R. p. 206, lines 3-21).

Appellant Ciccarelli was open with Gould about his plan for the future of MusclePharm starting in July and August 2014, which was to build up the business such that MusclePharm Supplements would take an interest and eventually purchase MusclePharm to add an apparel component and complement to its core supplement manufacture and sale focus. (R. p. 207, line 24 - p. 208, line 7). Gould understood "that was the whole goal of the business." *Id.* Ciccarelli first began discussions with Gould about a reduction in pay in August 2014 in anticipation of that business acquisition. (R. p. 128). That was the last month that Gould received a salary payment.

Ciccarelli explained to Gould that since Gould's employment began, in just about one year of time, MusclePharm had lost \$820,000 due to decreased sales. (R. p. 129). In August, Gould and Ciccarelli personally discussed Gould's reduced workload and potential for reduced salary going forward. Soon thereafter, a series of text messages were exchanged between Gould and Ciccarelli that were consistent with and confirmed those direct discussions had between them.

To wit, the text messages include Ciccarelli proposing some alternate employment terms, including the possibility of converting Gould to payment on an hourly basis. (R. p. 43). In response, Gould references a failure by MusclePharm to pay that month's (September 2014) salary, but then proposed terms for a modified employment relationship going forward from that point. Under those proposed terms, Gould requested payment for his last two pay checks, which he

received every two weeks. Additionally, he agreed that "my job is done as far as my duties over here" but "I will tie up any loose ends in the next few weeks." Ciccarelli responded via text with "K that sounds good and fair." Gould ended the exchange with a question as to how he should go about surrendering or destroying his company credit card. *Id.*

Gould from that point did some amount of work on behalf of MusclePharm, the extent of which is not established by the record, although at least portions were done without request of Ciccarelli after reaching the understanding confirmed by the texts. (R. p. 143, line 15). It was also provided based on the understanding of all involved that Gould was seeking continued employment by MusclePharm Supplements after the finished acquisition and his prior role at MusclePharm positioned him to transition into that continued lucrative employment. Gould had met with the CEO of MusclePharm Supplements previously, and confirmed in those text messages what had been discussed directly with Ciccarelli, that Gould was confident that MusclePharm Supplements intended to hire Gould after the acquisition. (R. p. 43).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the grant of a summary judgment motion, appellate courts apply the same standard that governs the trial court under Rule 56(c), SCRCP, which provides that summary judgment is proper when there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. Rule 56(c), SCRCP; *USAA Property and Cas. Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 661 S.E.2d 791, 377 S.C. 643 (2008). On appeal from an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court will review all ambiguities, conclusions, and inferences arising in and from the evidence in a light most favorable to the non-moving party below. *Willis v. Wu*, 362 S.C. 146, 151, 607 S.E.2d 63, 65 (2004).

Summary judgment is a “drastic remedy and should be cautiously invoked so that a litigant will not be improperly deprived of trial on disputed factual issues.” *Hoard v. Roper Hosp. Inc.*, 387 S.C. 539, 694 S.E.2d 1, 4 (2010). It is “not appropriate where further inquiry into the facts of the case is desirable to clarify the application of the law.” *Middleborough Horizontal Prop. Regime Council of Co-Owners v. Montedison S.p.A.*, 320 S.C. 470, 479, 465 S.E.2d 765, 771 (Ct. App.1995) (citing *Baugus v. Wessinger*, 303 S.C. 412, 401 S.E.2d 169 (1991)). “Even when there is no dispute as to evidentiary facts, but only as to the conclusions or inferences to be drawn from them, summary judgment should be denied.” *Nelson v. Charleston County Parks & Recreation Comm’n*, 362 S.C. 1, 5, 605 S.E.2d 744, 746 (Ct. App.2004).

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE OF THE EVIDENCE REGARDING ORAL DISCUSSIONS AND TEXT MESSAGES EXCHANGED REGARDING THE ISSUE, DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO RECOGNIZE A GENUINE ISSUE OF MATERIAL FACT EXISTED AS TO THE OPERATIVE TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT BETWEEN THE PARTIES FOR THE ENTIRE PERIOD OF EMPLOYMENT, WHICH SHOULD HAVE PRECLUDED THE GRANT OF SUMMARY JUDGMENT?

It is undisputed that when Gould began work for MusclePharm in May 2013, he agreed to do so at a salary of \$10,000 per month. The factual record upon which the trial court granted summary judgment is very limited, consisting almost entirely of two deposition transcripts, that of the Plaintiff Gould and Defendants.¹ Testimony during those depositions raised the factual issue of whether revised terms of employment and resolution of past due wages had been reached between the parties in August into September 2014, when discussions about company performance (i.e. substantial losses sustained during Gould's employment), reduced need for work in light of the anticipated sale of the company, and lowered salary as a result were had between Ciccarelli and Gould. (R. p. 128, line 2 – p. 129, line 21).

Included in that testimony was Gould's prospects for continued employment with MusclePharm Supplements, a key factor in Ciccarelli's understanding of the nature of Gould's transformed employment after that time. Gould confirmed that he had engaged in discussions with the CEO of MusclePharm Supplements about Gould's plan for the apparel line in 2015, which was beyond the date of MusclePharm Sportswear's anticipated acquisition. (R. p. 200, line 24 – p. 201, line 14).

¹ It was stipulated between the parties that the deposition testimony provided by Defendant Ciccarelli also served as the testimony of the Defendant Worldwide Apparel LLC d/b/a MusclePharm Sportswear LLC. (R. p. 180, line 23 – p. 182, line 3).

Importantly, an exchange of texts confirms² those discussions in addition to the deposition testimony, and a fact-finder could reasonably determine that those texts were sufficient documentation to confirm an agreement had been reached to modify the operative terms of employment than those relied upon the trial court in its order.

In that text exchange, Gould addresses wages that were past due as of that point, but then turns to address prospective issues by stating “I will not worry about the rest of the time until Brad³ takes over.” (R. p. 43). In return, Ciccarelli says “K that sounds good and fair.” *Id.* A fact-finder could reasonably view that exchange as Gould’s offer to continue employment without further compensation in the future unless or until circumstances changed for MusclePharm.

Why would anyone previously making \$10,000 per month agree to work for free? The answer begins with Gould’s acknowledgment that “my job is done as far as my duties over here.” He would not be putting forth substantial effort, or even the minimal effort he was previously for MusclePharm. Instead, Gould was marketing himself to his future employer, and using his supposedly-continued work with MusclePharm to do so. Also in that same text from Gould, he states “Then when [Brad] takes over he can hire me as an employee over there if he chooses.” *Id.*

Based on his own text communications, it is clear that Gould perceived that he was in line for a plum, paid position with a successor entity (“he is all about having me come aboard”) and his essentially-concluded duties for MusclePharm simply gave him a pretext to continue to market himself. *Id.* He even had Ciccarelli working on his behalf in that regard. (R. p. 145, lines 3 – 6). Gould was therefore willing to maintain a nominal presence around MusclePharm, even without pay, which was a savvy business move that could be easily attributed to him as justification for a

² Gould authenticated those texts during his deposition. (R. p. 212, lines 4 – 21).

³ “Brad” referred to here is Brad Pyatt, the CEO of MusclePharm Supplements.

drastically modified employment arrangement with MusclePharm. That ability to maintain ties with the acquiring entity and its vendors, plus Ciccarelli's efforts to assist in maintaining those ties, constituted valid consideration for a change in the relationship between Gould and MusclePharm. All of those inferences precluded summary judgment.

The ongoing dispute about the nature and existence of those changed terms of employment is in no way inconsistent with the order's referenced testimony from Ciccarelli in which he acknowledged that Gould never "resigned" or was "terminated," that Gould was owed something beyond that which he had been paid, had done some manner of "services" during months in which he was not paid⁴, and Ciccarelli had at that time intended to pay him some funds that were never eventually paid.

Those statements may all be taken as true, but yet remain meaningless statements in a vacuum because they do not resolve the continuing threshold question that must be answered prior to judgment of any sort: what are the operative terms under which Gould was employed after September 2014? While much is uncertain from the record, it is certain that factual disputes existed on that issue.

Accordingly, a genuine dispute exists as to whether the initial terms of employment with MusclePharm continued all the way through December 2014, or whether those terms terminated or changed in August or September 2014. That factual issue is material, as the order awarding damages calculated the amount of wages due (and exacerbated that calculation by treble of the

⁴ Ciccarelli indicated that at least some of the "services" provided by Gould after September 2014 were done "not per my request." (R p. 143, lines 6-15). It is reasonable to view anything done by Gould during that period as self-serving relationship maintenance, both with vendors and MusclePharm Supplements directly, to preserve his anticipated future employment with MusclePharm Supplements. Gould obviously positioned himself, using his now-completed value to MusclePharm, as part of the "package" to be acquired. Gould wanted MusclePharm Supplements to want him along with MusclePharm. He had to make himself appear to be indispensable, which required keeping a foot in the door, even without working hands along with that foot.

same) based on continuation of those initial terms through December. However, a genuine dispute between the parties continues in that regard, which necessitates fact-finding by a jury to resolve, and as such precludes the grant of summary judgment in favor of Gould.

II. DOES THE PAYMENT OF WAGES ACT, AS A MATTER OF LAW, RENDER NULL ANY CHANGE IN THE TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT THAT ARE AGREED UPON BETWEEN THE EMPLOYEE AND EMPLOYER MERELY BECAUSE THE TERMS WERE NOT CONFIRMED IN WRITING?

Although breach of an employment contract was a cause of action included in the complaint, Gould never disputed that his employment by MusclePharm was employment at-will. (R. pp. 17-24). In South Carolina, employment at-will is presumed in the absence of the creation of a specific contract of employment. *Mathis v. Brown & Brown of S.C., Inc.*, 389 S.C. 299, 698 S.E.2d 773, 778 (2010). “An at-will employee may be terminated at any time for any reason or for no reason, with or without cause.” *Id.* With the power to completely end employment without notice or cause, the employer must also possess the “lesser-included” authority to decide upon whether to offer, and/or whether to accept, altered terms of employment for a particular employee. It is a false dilemma to assert that an employer must either fully terminate an employee or continue without amendment of the original terms of employment.

Certain statutory restrictions carve out exceptions on such absolute or derivative authority, such as restrictions on actions taken on account of age, race, etc. by certain covered employers. See S.C. Code Ann. § 1-13-80. Nevertheless, the South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (S.C. Code § 41-10-10 et seq.), does *not* constitute such a restriction if properly applied in these circumstances.

The purpose of the Payment of Wages Act (hereafter the “Act”) is “to protect employees from the unjustified and willful retention of wages by the employer.” *Mathis v. Brown & Brown*

of S.C., Inc., 389 S.C. 299, 698 S.E.2d 773, 783 (2010). It is “remedial legislation.” *Dumas v. InfoSafe Corp.*, 320 S.C. 188, 463 S.E.2d 641 (Ct. App.1995). At its core, it simply requires that “[e]very employer in the State shall pay all wages due...” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-40(A). It further provides that “An employer shall not withhold or divert any portion of an employee’s wages unless the... employer has given written notification to the employee of the amount and terms of the deductions as required by subsection (A) of Section 41-10-30.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-40(C).

The Act, therefore, reduces the matter to the basic inquiry of “what was owed, and was it paid?” The Act does not, as the order granting summary judgment mistakenly approached the matter, turn upon an analysis of the sufficiency of notice pursuant to § 41-10-30(A) as a basis for award of damages and penalties.

A. The Act does not provide for employee recovery for mere failure to provide notice in writing of certain terms of employment.

The Act contains a notice provision which states:

Every employer shall notify each employee in writing at the time of hiring of the normal hours and wages agreed upon, the time and place of payment, and the deductions which will be made from the wages, including payments to insurance programs. The employer has the option of giving written notification by posting the terms conspicuously at or near the place of work. Any changes in these terms must be made in writing at least seven calendar days before they become effective. This section does not apply to wage increases.

S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30(A) (hereafter “notice provision”). Gould alleged, and the Trial Court agreed, that Defendants failed to comply with this notice provision. It is first contended that the text messages discussed supra, when viewed with all inferences in favor of the non-movant Defendants, comply with the requirements of this notice provision.

Nevertheless, there is no remedy provision in the Act which provides for any private award as sought by Plaintiff on the basis of a failure to provide the notice required by § 41-10-30(A),

even if the failure is acknowledged by the employer. The only penalties in the event of such a failure that are available are written warning by the Directory of the Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation or civil penalties "of not more than one hundred dollars" for each subsequent violation. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-80(A) and (B); *Barton v. House of Raeford Farms*, 745 F.3d 95 (4th Cir. 2014).

Accordingly, the most relief an employee can claim solely as the result of a notice provision failure is a seven-day delay before enforcement of the modified terms of employment. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30(A). There may be an ongoing dispute as to when that seven-day period should or did begin, but that would constitute another material fact in genuine dispute that would preclude the grant of summary judgment.

B. The order misapplied the provisions that allow for potential employee recovery by not limiting the award to unpaid wages due.

Employee recovery of damages and attorney fees is of course possible under the Act, but only for the limited circumstances as set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-80(C), which provides that:

In case of any failure to pay wages due to an employee as required by Section 41-10-40 or 41-10-50 the employee may recover in a civil action an amount equal to three times the full amount of the unpaid wages, plus costs and reasonable attorney's fees as the court may allow.

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