THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Benjamin H. Culbertson, Circuit Court Judge

Civil Action No. 2015-CP-10-3220

Appellate Case No. 2016-002469

Shane Gould,

Respondent.

v.

Worldwide Apparel LLC, f/k/a
MusclePharm Sportswear, LLC and
Drew Ciccarelli

Appellants.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

John E. Schmidt, III
john.schmidt@thesclawfirm.com
Melissa J. Copeland
missy.copeland@thesclawfirm.com
Schmidt & Copeland LLC
P. O. Box 11547
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 748-1342

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Circuit Court properly granted summary judgment in favor of Gould where the Appellants admitted in binding Rule 30(b)(6) testimony all material facts of the Gould's claims.

Appellants ("Employer") have admitted all material facts of the Gould's claim in sworn testimony. Ciccarelli testified on his own behalf and simultaneously on behalf of his wholly owned corporate defendants in a deposition under SCRCP 30(b)(6). [R. p. 181, line 23-p.182, line 3]. Under the circumstances such testimony binds the corporate parties.⁶

Employer hired Gould in or around May of 2013 as a W2 employee, and his wages were set and agreed at \$10,000 per month. [R. p. 124, lines 5-10]. Gould was in fact paid the \$10,000 per month each month until the first day of September 2014. Around that time, without any written notice that was required by law – S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30 – Gould's pay was unlawfully reduced retroactively to \$5000.00 for August 2014. [R. p. 138, lines 1-25]. Gould was

⁶ See *Chapman v. Ourisman Chevrolet Co.*, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 73708 (S.D. Md. 2011)("As John Ourisman was the corporate designee pursuant to Rule 30(b)(6), he bound the corporation to the answers that he gave in his deposition testimony. Defendants have not indicated that the information regarding the DOL's investigation about which Ourisman was asked was inaccessible or unknown to the corporation at the time that Ourisman was deposed. Accordingly, Rule 30(b)(6) requires that the corporation be bound to the answers that Ourisman gave during his deposition testimony....")

paid nothing at all for his work in September, October, November and December of 2014. [R. p. 142, line 1-p.143, line 25]. *Gould claimed that such change in the pay rate is specifically unlawful and void, as no written notice as required by law was ever given of any such reduction.* [R. p. 136, line 9-p.139, line 25].

Employer testified, admitting that Gould was not terminated, did not resign, and continued working in September, October, November and December of 2014. [R. p. 140, line 1-p.144, line 1]. Indeed, Employer admitted that they even intended to continue to pay Gould a reduced amount for September 2014 and the ensuing months [R. p. 139, lines 1-25] – but they never paid him anything for those months. [R. p. 142, line 1-p.143, line 25]. And they never gave written notice of any pay reduction at all. [R. p. 137, line 1-p.138, line 25 (“Q: Anywhere did you ever document the amount of the reduction? A: Only via phone.” and “Q: Did you give him at any time seven days’ written notification of reduction in pay in a specific amount? A: No.”)]

As the Circuit Court held, these Rule 30(b)(6) admissions by the Employer leave no room for dispute. All elements of Gould’s claims under the Wage Payment Act were established by Employer’s own admission, and therefore summary judgment was appropriate.

a) Alleged Oral Discussions and Text Messages About a “Possible Change” in Employment Terms Were Not Sufficient to Create a Genuine Issue of Material Fact when the Wage Payment Act Required any Actual Changes to Employment Terms to Be Made Only with 7 Days’ Written Notice, and Employer Admitted That No Such Written Notice Was Ever Given.

The Employer’s statement of this issue appears to suggest that a vague, incomplete discussion of a possible, never implemented, temporary change in payment terms, is somehow “enough” to create a genuine issue of material fact about whether the actual terms of employment lawfully changed, even though Employer has admitted in Rule 30(b)(6) testimony

there was never any written notice of any actual change in terms ever given to Gould as required by law. Employer's argument is meritless.

It is undisputed that Gould's wage was \$10,000 per month. Employer admitted in sworn, binding Rule 30(b)(6) testimony that Gould was never given written notice of a change of those terms at all. [R. p. 136, line 9-p.139, line 25]. Employer also admitted in this sworn testimony that Gould was never terminated, fired, or that he ever resigned during the period in question. [R. p. 140, line 1-p.144, line 1].

The Court below found that the Wage Payment Act applies to this case. The Wage Payment Act provides that any downward change in the rate of pay of an employee is not effective without seven days' advance written notice. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. The Act also expressly – for the protection of employees – forbids any agreements to contravene or set aside any of the protections afforded by the Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-100. Thus, it is clear that at no time was Gould's lawful salary anything other than the undisputed originally agreed \$10,000 per month.

Employer contends there was some evidence of “discussions” of what Employer describes as a “possibility of converting” Gould's pay in some indefinite way. Appellants' Brief at 4. This “evidence” refers to a vague text message sent well after Employer already stopped paying Gould altogether. As an initial matter, under the law, such evidence is inconsequential legally, as any actual downward pay change must be made in a written notice. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. But the Appellant points to evidence itself is also noteworthy in how otherwise immaterial it is, as well. In the message, Gould complains he was not being paid, sought to get paid some of what was past due (“let me know when I can expect payment please” [R. p. 43] and even attempts to gain the late payments already earned by offering to defer some part of his pay

going forward - until the business was acquired. However, Employer still never accepted – or lived by – any such proposal. *Id.* Instead, Employer made no further payments to Gould at all, even after Employer received a significant sum in early 2015 from the sale of the business. Employer, implausibly from this text message vapor, extrapolates the text message as an agreement to “work for a reduced amount” or to “work for free,” which in this context would be unenforceable and probably unlawful⁷. Notably, Employer itself did not treat this as an “agreement to work for less” since Employer never paid Gould another dime.

Regardless, Employer simply provided no evidence that any specific pay reduction was ever actually agreed. Indeed, the Wage Payment Act protects employees from an employer’s effort to argue such an oral agreement to reduced pay by requiring all such changes to be made in writing with seven (7) days’ notice in order to be effective. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. As mentioned above, the Appellants’ “free labor” speculation would be unenforceable and would probably violate federal law.

The issue for the Court is simple. The Employer admitted that no written notice was given to reduce Gould’s wage, at all, ever. Such admission is binding, and the Circuit Court was correct to rely on it in granting summary judgment.

b) The Wage Payment Act Forbids Covered Employers from Reducing Employee Pay Without 7 Days’ Written Notice. Here, Employer Admitted that No Written Notice Was Ever Given to Gould.

Appellants also pose the issue: whether the Wage Payment Act voids any agreed change to employment terms if written notice of such changes is not given by the employer to the employee. The answer is, yes, at least when the change is a reduction in pay. That is the law

⁷ Surely it would be a violation of public policy, at the barest minimum, to allow an employee to “agree with his employer to work for no pay at all.” Indeed, any “agreement” to work for no pay would be no contractual agreement at all, lacking in mutual consideration. Further, the Fair Labor Standards Act would forbid the “free work” arrangement Appellants now speculatively imagine. *See* US DOL Fact Sheet #71.

under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. Here, while it is not material to the outcome, given the Appellants' admissions, there was never any agreement to a wage reduction, and no specific reduction agreement was ever written. What is important, and material, is that the Employer admits under oath that it never gave seven days' written notice of any reduced wage, and so no such change could be effective.

Employer's argument of a "false dilemma" is in error. A South Carolina employer governed by the Wage Payment Act must document wages as provided in the Act, and it must document any change to reduce the wages as required by the Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. While at common law, such circumstances required no writing at all, for employers in South Carolina governed by the Act (some employers are not governed by the Act) those days are gone.

This does not change the fact that an employee may yet be an at-will employee. But the Wage Payment Act does constrain *how* an employer subject to the Act may deal with the at-will employee. The employer must document the wage at the outset. And the employer must give seven days' written notice documenting any downward change to that rate of pay before it is effective. Put simply, even if there were an agreed change here, it was never "effective" under the Act because Employer admits it never gave any required written notice of a change in terms to Gould, the employee.

Employer's assertion that the Wage Payment Act's written notice requirement does not apply to wage reductions directly contradicts the language of the statute, which states that "*Any changes in these terms* [i.e. hours, agreed wages, time and place of payment] must be made in writing at least seven calendar days before they become effective. This section does not apply to

wage increases.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. The Court should reject Employer’s arguments to vastly rewrite the Wage Payment Act.

Thus, in view of the Employer’s own sworn testimony, the Circuit Court’s Order granting summary judgment is proper. Appellants’ contorted attempts to misconstrue the Act otherwise are unsupported and should be rejected.

II. The Circuit Court properly found that Appellants offered no adequate admissible evidence to support the defenses of Disloyalty or of Gould’s “Consent” to Employer’s Violation of the Wage Payment Act.

In this case, Employer asserted vaguely the defense of disloyalty and now also urges the defense of consent. Neither affirmative defense was supported or valid. As we show below, the “consent” defense was not pled [R. pp. 25-30], and is precluded by the Wage Payment Act itself. And the “disloyalty” defense was based only on speculation and inadmissible hearsay concerning remote and *de minimis* conduct not amounting to “disloyalty” at all, and is therefore insufficient to raise a genuine issue of material fact.

a) A Consent Defense is Unsupported and Recognition of a Consent Defense Violates the Wage Payment Act.

The “consent defense” was never pled in this case, and should therefore be disregarded. Regardless of that failure, it is clear that Gould never consented to allow Employer to violate the Wage Payment Act, and the Wage Payment Act forbids any agreement to permit a violation of the Wage Payment Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-100. It was undisputed that Gould was paid zero for his work in the months of September through December of 2014. There is simply no evidence of consent to complete nonpayment. Surely it would be a violation of public policy, at the barest minimum, to allow an employee to “agree with his employer to work for no pay at all.” Indeed, any “agreement” to work for no pay would be no contractual agreement at all,

unenforceable as lacking in mutual consideration. Further, the Fair Labor Standards Act would forbid the “free work” arrangement Employer now speculatively imagines. *See* US DOL Fact Sheet #71.

Employer now absurdly, and without any support, claims Gould consented to an unspecified wage “reduction” to zero, or possibly other (never paid) reduced amounts, without written notice. Here, Gould’s pay was not just “reduced” without written notice – instead, Employer quit paying Gould entirely, for months, without any written notice. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-100, no private agreement (or consent) is permitted to vary the protective requirements of the Wage Payment Act. Here, Employer merely continues to insist that the Court should recognize unwritten exceptions for it under this law, duly enacted by the General Assembly.

The law forbids consent to violations of – or private exceptions to - the requirements of the Wage Payment Act. *Id.* By statute applicable to the Employer here, the Act provides that no changes may be made to reduce the Gould’s pay except in writing with 7 days’ notice given. S.C. Code Ann. § 41-10-30. Here, Employer admitted under oath - and cannot now dispute - that it never made any changes to Gould’s employment terms in writing, and that it never gave seven days’ written notice of any such changes or pay reductions. Regardless of any argument Employer may make today, no pay change or reduction in pay was made or effective, by this statute.

b) Employer Offered No Material, Admissible or Relevant Evidence of Disloyalty

Employer had the burden to establish the elements of the defense of disloyalty. By offering only hearsay statements about temporally remote, *de minimis* activities, Employer did

not provide adequate evidence to create a genuine issue of material fact precluding summary judgment.

The Employer's contentions amounted to this:

(1) the Employer "heard" that Gould had given out a few pairs of socks to persons at one or two trade shows, well before Employer stopped paying Gould. Gould was asked to stop and there were no further reports of such conduct – [R. p. 156, line 1-p.158, lines 16,19-22, p. 160, lines 7-18, p. 161, lines 7-23, p. 162, lines 1- 25, p. 163, line 22-p. 164, line 20, p. 166, lines 3-19], and

(2) early in the employment, Employer *speculated* that Gould *might have been* getting "kickbacks" from suppliers merely because he preferred certain suppliers; but such suspicions never led to any actual evidence or indications of kickbacks, and so the issue was dropped. [R. p. 156, line 1-p.158, lines 16,19-22].

In the end, Employer provided no admissible evidence to the Circuit Court of disloyalty during the relevant period⁸ of non-payment – September through December of 2014. *Hall v. Fedor*, 349 S.C. 169, 175, 561 S.E.2d 654, 657 (Ct. App. 2002)("Our appellate courts have interpreted Rule 56(e) to mean materials used to support or refute a motion for summary judgment must be those which would be admissible in evidence.")

First, on hearsay and speculation only, Employer surmised that Gould might have acted with disloyalty. Employer offered the Court below no admissible evidence that Gould attended any trade shows at all and acted with any disloyalty (only on hearsay and speculation, Employer supposed that Gould may have acted with disloyalty at some time) in the relevant period of non-payment - September through December of 2014. [R. p. 158, lines 1-16,19-22, p. 159, lines 1-25,

⁸ Under *Futch v McAllister Towing*, 335 S.C. 598, 518 S.E. 2d 591 (1999) and similar, subsequent cases, the defense of employee disloyalty applies only to affect compensation during the asserted periods of disloyalty. See *Futch* at 607-608 (Claimant not entitled to compensation for services performed *during the periods of disloyalty*).

p. 160, lines 7-18, p. 161, lines 7-23, p. 162, lines 1-25, p. 163, line 22-p. 164, line 20, p. 166, lines 3-19]. Thus, because the purported trade show activities of Gould were the basis of the disloyalty asserted, there was simply no admissible evidence offered that Gould did anything at all disloyal in September through December of 2014, the periods of non-payment.

As shown above, the case law requires admissible evidence of disloyalty *during the relevant period of non-payment* for good reason. *See Hall v. Fedor, supra*. If it were otherwise, an employer could “mentally note” an asserted disloyalty early in the employment relation, and then “hold” that assertion until the last year or years (for example) of loyal service, only to then assert such early alleged disloyalty as a defense to payment for the later periods of unquestionably loyal service.

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